
Date Published:23 February 2022     

Fire and Rescue Scrutiny Committee

Friday 4 March 2022 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies. 

Cllr Jeremy 
Hilton

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 14)

To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 14 January 2022. 

Cllr Jeremy 
Hilton

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any pecuniary or personal interests from members. 

Cllr Jeremy 
Hilton

SCRUTINY ITEMS

4  GFRS COLLABORATION WITH SWAST (Pages 15 - 32)

To receive reports from Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) 
and South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SWAST) 
highlighting the impact of collaborative work on both services, including 
the positives and negatives of this collaboration. 

Mark Preece, 
Derek 
McCullough

5  UPDATE ON THE COMMUNITY RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN (Pages 33 
- 64)

To receive an update on progress with the CRMP 2022-25.

Mark Preece

6  GFRS PERFORMANCE DATA AND UPDATES (Pages 65 - 74)

To consider the latest GFRS performance data and receive any relevant 
updates. 

Clive Webber



    

WORK PLANNING

7  WORK PLAN 2022 (Pages 75 - 76)

To consider the Committee work plan, and to suggest items for 
consideration at future meetings. 

Cllr Jeremy 
Hilton

8  FUTURE MEETINGS 

To note the meeting dates for 2022 (all meetings to start at 10am):

27 May 2022
15 July 2022
2 September 2022
11 November 2022.

Cllr Jeremy 
Hilton

Membership –  Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Jeremy Hilton (Chair), Cllr Nick Housden (Vice-Chair), 
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington, Cllr Wendy Thomas, Cllr Brian Tipper and Cllr Pam Tracey MBE 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Director of Policy, 
Performance and Governance, Rob Ayliffe 01452 328198 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Laura Powick, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324205/fax: 425850/e-mail: laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 425230) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

FIRE AND RESCUE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Fire and Rescue Scrutiny Committee held on Friday 
14 January 2022 commencing at 10.00 am at the Virtual Meeting - Web ex meeting.

PRESENT

Cllr Bernard Fisher
Cllr Jeremy Hilton (Chair)
Cllr Nick Housden (Vice-
Chair)

Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington
Cllr Wendy Thomas
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE

Substitutes:

Apologies:

In Attendance: 

Cllr Brian Tipper

Cllr Dave Norman MBE, Cabinet Member for Public Protection, 
Parking and Libraries, GCC
Mark Preece, Interim Chief Fire Officer, GFRS
Jean Cole, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, GFRS
Clive Webber, Head of Business Planning and Performance, GFRS
Maria Boon, Finance and Compliance Manager, GFRS
Nick Evans, Deputy Gloucestershire Police and Crime 
Commissioner
Paul Blacker, Finance Director, GCC
Laura Powick, Democratic Service Adviser, GCC.

24. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllr Brian Tipper. 

25. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 12 November 2021 were agreed as a correct 
record. 

26. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting. 

27. BLUE LIGHT COLLABORATION 

Jean Cole, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, provided the Committee with a presentation 
on Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) and Gloucestershire 
Constabulary collaboration. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

It was explained that the duty for emergency services to collaborate in England was 
determined within the Police and Crime Act 2017. The Act was deliberately broad in 
its definition of collaboration to allow for maximum local innovation. 

It was understood that parties entering into a proposed collaboration needed to be 
satisfied that it would have a positive impact on efficiency and effectiveness. Should 
it be found that the collaboration would have an adverse effect on the efficiency and 
effectiveness of an emergency service, then the legislation would not require that 
service to enter into a collaborative agreement. 

Members were informed that the South West Emergency Services Collaboration 
Strategic Board had been disbanded, however the South West Emergency 
Services Collaboration Working Group had continued for the sharing of best 
practice and collaborative opportunities. 

Since the election of the new Gloucestershire Police and Crime Commissioner 
(PCC), Chris Nelson, in May 2021, opportunities for greater collaboration between 
GFRS and Gloucestershire Constabulary had been explored. Areas for 
consideration included road safety, training and development, and shared access to 
premises. 

It was explained that at a strategic level, a Memorandum of Understanding had 
been developed which set out the governance for the partnership; the objectives for 
the partnership; opportunities for finance; and details for the termination of 
arrangements. 

An action plan had also been developed identifying five key areas for collaborative 
work, including leadership arrangements, the shared estate, and operational 
opportunities.

Members noted that the next steps were to sign off the strategic documents and to 
identify officers for the delivery of objectives. 

One member asked for specific detail on the collaborative work undertaken at a 
tactical level between GFRS and Gloucestershire Constabulary, arguing that low 
level collaboration should be part of the norm. 

Nick Evans, Deputy PCC for Gloucestershire, was asked to explain to the 
Committee the top three collaborative projects to be undertaken by GFRS and 
Gloucestershire Constabulary. He explained that collaboration went beyond dealing 
with specific incidents, and that the focus was on systemising and formalising this 
collaborative partnership.

He continued to explain that the top three priorities for collaboration were:
 The One Estate project – This sharing of premises would help to increase 

the footprint of the Constabulary in Gloucestershire; provide access points 
for police officers; and help to embed joint working and an awareness of how 
each service operates.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

 Road Safety – A Road Safety Forum had been established, along with a 
formal collaboration agreement between GFRS, the OPCC, Gloucestershire 
Constabulary, and Gloucestershire County Council (GCC), which set out the 
Forum’s parameters. 

 Community Safety – This included tackling persistent anti-social behaviour; 
considering how the services could contribute to developing a sense of 
community in areas where there were problems; and providing a visible 
presence to show that these communities were taken seriously.

One member commented that they could see a number of benefits for the police 
through this collaborative work, and little, if none for GFRS. They expressed 
concern that the lines were being blurred between them. They also stated that it 
was a police ‘force’ rather than police ‘service’.

In response, Deputy PCC Evans proposed that it was a police ‘service’ and 
reassured members that lines were not being blurred, that each service had their 
own clear duties, but that they could collaborate in areas that they were all 
responsible for, such as in tackling anti social behaviour, and in working together to 
make communities safer. 

Mark Preece, Interim Chief Fire Officer, also stressed that both GFRS and 
Gloucestershire Constabulary maintained their independence, however it was in the 
public interest for them to work together in key areas to maximise effectiveness.

In response to a query, it was understood that Newent and Dursley Community Fire 
Stations were being considered for use as shared premises. The CFO explained 
that that these stations were currently on-call stations, and using them as shared 
premises would be a more effective use of the public estate.

The CFO added that GFRS was benefitting from collaboration with the 
Constabulary by being able to access their excellent leadership and management 
training facilities at the Sabrina Centre in Berkeley. He also explained that 
collaboration was necessary between the two services to reduce road deaths in the 
County. 

Cllr Dave Norman MBE, Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and 
Libraries, reminded the Committee of the difficult historic relationship between 
GFRS, GCC and the OPCC, and welcomed this positive collaborative approach 
under the new PCC. He also reassured members that he would not allow GFRS to 
enter into any partnership that would not be of benefit to the service. 

One member suggested that the change in relationship between GCC, GFRS and 
the OPCC was as a result of party politics and expressed the view that there was 
no need for closer association between GFRS and Gloucestershire Constabulary.

One member commented that party politics should be set aside and that 
collaboration could be beneficial, so long as the governance of each service 
remained separate. Another member echoed that a collaborative approach could 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

only be of benefit to local communities, whilst another member suggested that the 
public would be delighted that these services were working together.

A further member queried whether the separate responsibilities of each service 
were being blurred. 

Another member commented that, whilst collaboration was essential, the use of 
shared premises created a perception issue and that the fundamental differences 
between the fire and police services should be ring-fenced. 

The CFO explained that working alongside each other had benefits for both 
services in helping to identify and help those most vulnerable. He also reassured 
the Committee that the stations would retain their community assets, and that any 
costs incurred would be covered by the police, as determined through the 
Memorandum of Understanding. 

One member informed the Committee of having visited the Emergency Services 
Community Station in Hayle, Cornwall, which co-located the fire, police and 
ambulance services. They noted that the principle for the tri-service station was 
good, however they felt the design was flawed and therefore requested that the 
designs for the shared use of Dursley and Newent Community Fire Stations be 
shared with the Committee for scrutiny. 

The Deputy PCC provided reassurance that the operational and leadership 
separation between the police and fire services remained and would continue to do 
so, that both services retained their clear responsibilities and duties, and that the 
governance of both services were independent. He reiterated that collaboration was 
about working together to deliver improved services to the communities in 
Gloucestershire. 

In terms of the use of shared premises, the Deputy PCC reassured members that 
the police would not be detaining people in community fire stations as they had a 
custody suite in Gloucestershire that they used already, and that having spoken to 
people in Newent, they welcomed the shared use of buildings that were already in 
the public estate. These shared premises would be used to enable police officers to 
complete reports and would increase police presence in communities by providing a 
base. 

The Chair thanked the Deputy PCC for taking the time to talk to the Committee. It 
was requested that a copy of the Memorandum of Understanding be shared with 
Committee members, and for a progress report on collaboration activities, focusing 
on the shared estate, road safety and community safety, be brought back to the 
Committee in six months time. 

28. GFRS BUDGET 

Mark Preece introduced the proposals for the GFRS Budget 2022/23.

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

It was understood that time had run short at the Budget Scrutiny session on 6 
January 2022 for these proposals to be considered, and members had therefore 
been asked to submit any questions to this Committee to be raised during this item.

The CFO explained that the Service was anticipating an increase to its revenue 
budget of £1.144m for 2022/23. This funding would be to cover the costs as set out 
in the report. 

Additionally, the one-year funding for investment training costs for learning and 
development was highlighted, as well as the one-year funding for an additional 
Young Person Support Officer post to help reduce the risk from fires being started 
deliberately by children.

It was understood that the increase to the budget was mainly directed towards 
training aspects in order to ensure that operational staff, in which just over half were 
in the development phase of their careers, were competent in their roles and 
working in a safe manner. 

It was noted that in order to address the safety of the most vulnerable within the 
community, as recognised by the Community Risk Management Plan, funding 
would also be allocated in prevention roles delivering safe and well checks, road 
safety education and arson prevention activities. 

Members were also advised that there were a number of capital bids by GFRS for 
2022/23 totalling £2.819m, in order to replace and upgrade radios, replace PPE for 
specialist incidents, and replace operational vehicles.

Cllr Norman highlighted to the Committee how, since he had become Cabinet 
Member, he had continued to push for significant investment in fire, and that in the 
last three budgets he had successfully achieved significant increases to the GFRS 
budget. He committed to continue to push to ensure that the Service was well-
resourced and able to deliver an effective service for residents. 

One member welcomes the additional funding for the Service and stated their belief 
that the Service should be funded to cover all risks. They queried where the GFRS 
estimated income of £290k was coming from?

In response, Maria Boon, Finance and Compliance Manager, GFRS, explained that 
some of that income came from charges to South Western Ambulance Service for 
the work GFRS did for them, as well as from charges for the telecare service. A 
breakdown of this income would be provided to members.

A question was also asked as to why the funding for an additional Young Person 
Support Officer was only for one year? In response, it was explained that it was 
about proving the value of that role in making a tangible difference, reducing fire, 
and the number of children referred. The aim was to consider this over the period of 
12 months. Feedback on the success of the role would be provided to the 
Committee after 6 months. 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

Further information on the Fire PFI Reserve and Fire Joint Training Centre Reserve 
was requested and it was queried why these couldn’t be dipped into? In response, 
Paul Blacker, Finance Director, GCC, provided an explanation of these funds and 
explained that the advice was not to take from these funds. Information on the cost 
of the PFI buildings in the Service would be provided following the meeting. 

One member praised Cllr Norman for the work he had done to achieve additional 
funding for GFRS.

The Committee noted the proposed GFRS Budget for 2022/23.

29. GFRS STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE 2020/21 

Mark Preece provided the Committee with an overview of the GFRS Statement of 
Assurance 2020-21.

Members were advised that this statement was produced to demonstrate to 
Gloucestershire communities how GFRS had progressed in the last 12 months 
towards delivering its mission of working together to provide the highest standard of 
community safety and emergency response services to the communities of 
Gloucestershire. The statement provided information covering governance, financial 
and operational matters, as well as detail about the GFRS workforce.

One member queried the situation regarding the number of on-call firefighters. In 
response, it was explained that there was a 25-30 percent turnover of on-call staff 
as many of them had jobs and other commitments outside of the Service which 
could change and contribute to this high turnover. Recruitment of on-call staff was 
continuous. 

There was also a query regarding mutual aid agreements. In response, Clive 
Webber, Head of Business Planning and Performance, GFRS, informed members 
that these agreements were reviewed annually, that there could be differences 
between agreements depending on the capacity and resources of each service, 
and that Avon was used as the back up control room for GFRS. It was requested 
that a short briefing note be circulated to Committee members on these mutual aid 
agreements. 

30. HMICFRS INSPECTION UPDATE FOR GFRS AND STATE OF FIRE REPORT 
2021 

Mark Preece provided the Committee with an update on the HMICFRS inspection 
of GFRS which had concluded in November 2021 after 8 weeks of inspection. 

Members were informed that initial feedback was given to CFO Mark Preece, the 
Principal Officer team and Cllr Dave Norman in the form of a hot debrief on 1 
December 2021, and it was anticipated that the full report would be published in 
June 2022. 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

The CFO also introduced the State of Fire and Rescue Report 2021 to the 
Committee, which was produced by the Chief Inspector of HMICFRS and provided 
an overview of all fire services in England.

There was a question as to how likely it would be for GFRS to receive an inspection 
report from HMICFRS recognising that considerable progress had been made? In 
response, Cllr Norman explained that he was unable to comment on the report 
currently as it was under embargo to allow for the moderation of all inspection 
reports to ensure fairness and accuracy, however as soon as the report was 
released, this Committee would be the first to see it and would be given the 
opportunity to challenge the CFO and himself.

There was a further question as to when the White Paper on Fire Reform would 
likely be published? In response it was acknowledged that the date for its release 
had still not been determined. 

31. WORK PLAN 2021/22 

At its next meeting on 4 March 2022, the Committee would consider:

 An update on the CRMP
 GFRS collaboration with SWAST, including a written report from GFRS 

highlighting the impact of this work on the service, including the positives and 
negatives of this collaboration.

The following items were added to the work plan for future consideration by the 
Committee:

 Proposals for the shared use of Newent and Dursley Community Fire 
Stations

 Update on progress with GFRS and Gloucestershire Constabulary/PCC 
collaboration (written report to focus on the three themes identified: the 
Shared Estate, Road Safety, and Community Safety).

 Feedback on the success/ value of the Young Person Support Officer role 
(after 6 months in post). 

32. FUTURE MEETINGS 

The dates of future meetings were noted. 

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11.50 am

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Fire and Rescue Scrutiny Committee actions – 14 January 2022

Topic Action Responsibility Progress

149. Blue Light 
Collaboration

6 Monthly progress reports on GFRS and PCC/ 
Constabulary Collaboration to be presented to the 
Committee. 

Mark Preece/ 
Jean Cole/ 
Nick Evans

The first update to be 
provided to the Committee at 
its meeting on 2 September 
2022. This has been included 
in the Committee work plan. 

250. Blue Light 
Collaboration 

Proposals for the shared use of Dursley and 
Newent Community Fire Stations to be shared 
with the Committee. 

Mark Preece/ 
Jean Cole/ 
Nick Evans 

An item on this has been 
included in the work plan to 
be considered by the 
Committee at its meeting on 
27 May 2022 (tbc). 

351. Blue Light 
Collaboration

The Memorandum of Understanding/ 
Collaboration Agreement to be shared with 
Committee members. 

Mark Preece/ 
Jean Cole/ 
Nick Evans

The draft MoU is currently 
with the OPCC Legal 
Department for comment and 
feedback, once the MoU is 
agreed then it will be shared 
with the Fire Scrutiny 
Committee for Information.

452. GFRS Budget A breakdown of GFRS income to be shared with 
Committee members. 

Mark Preece/ 
Maria Boon

Received and included in the 
minutes item on 4 March 
2022 agenda. 

553. GFRS Budget Feedback on the success/ value of the Young 
Person Support Officer role to be received by the 
Committee after 6 months in post. 

Mark Preece This has been added to the 
Committee’s work plan. 

654. GFRS Statement of 
Assurance 2020/21

A short note on mutual aid agreements, including 
for the control centre, to be circulated to 
Committee members.

Clive Webber A briefing note on the fall 
back arrangements with Avon 
FRS, compiled by Janet 
Williams, GFRS Control 
Room Manager, has been 

P
age 9



included under the minutes 
item on the 4 March 2022 
agenda. 

755. Work Plan To add the following items to the Committee work 
plan:

- Update on progress with GFRS and 
Constabulary/PCC collaboration (written 
report to focus on the three themes 
identified: the Shared Estate, Road Safety, 
and Community Safety).

- Proposals for the shared use of Newent 
and Dursley Community Fire Stations.

Laura Powick Completed 

P
age 10



GFRS Estimated Income 23/24

£'000

Secondments £147

SWASFT recovery £70

Telecare £42

Other (fire certificates, special services, rental etc) £20

SkillZONE income £11

Estimated total income £290

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Fallback arrangements

Avon Fire and Rescue Service and Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service have reciprocal 
arrangements for fallback should their Control Rooms reach capacity with call handling.  These 
arrangements are based on the format below.

Both services will:-

 Receive emergency calls made using the 999/112 system which are initially routed to into the 
correct Control Room, but exceed the Service’s capacity to answer, and are subsequently re-
routed by BT to the agreed fallback Service Control Room.

 Handle the re-routed calls and record all relevant details.
 Pass details of those calls back to the mobilising Control Room at the earliest opportunity 

using either telephone or Airwave radio system. 
 Give a minimum of 4 weeks’ notice to cease this arrangement.

In addition to this, both Control Rooms will handle emergency calls for the opposite Control Room 
should there be a failure of equipment or need to evacuate to Standby Control Rooms.  This will be 
facilitated by the use of BT Smart Numbers and a telephone call to the receiving Control Room or 
contact on the Airwave Hailing Group to announce this is in action.

We do not have a buddy arrangement with another FRS.  These were brought in post regional control 
and are appearing to be gradually phased out as technology advances.

These arrangements will remain in place and will not be affected by the instigation of Operation 
Willowbeck this year by BT.  Operation Willowbeck places FRS’s into trusthouses to take overflow 
calls from FRS’s suffering large volumes of calls.  FRS’s have been consulted to state how many calls 
they feel they could take etc. without compromising their BAU.  Gloucestershire have committed to 
this and are currently taking part in trials.

We are also committed to MAIT (multi-agency incident transfer) which is a Home Office driven 
arrangement where incidents can be created and transferred electronically to the appropriate 
FRS/emergency service.

Janet Williams
Fire Control Manager

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Collaborative work with South Western Ambulance Service Trust (SWAST)

Background 

In 2006 Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) started its first full collaboration with the 
ambulance service in the form of co-responding, followed by cardiac response, Concern for Safety, 
use of GFRS station facilities and Operation Braidwood in 2020.    

Over this same period the ambulance trusts across the country saw large-scale change in governance 
and restructuring.  In 2006, a merger of Gloucestershire, Wiltshire and Avon led to the creation of 
Great Western Ambulance Service (GWAS). Then a further amalgamation in 2013 saw GWAS 
become part of the South Western Ambulance Service Trust (SWAST), covering Cornwall, Devon, 
Dorset, Wiltshire, Avon, Somerset and Gloucestershire.

Collaboration 

1. Co-Responding

1.1. Co-responding is where GFRS arrives at the scene first to provide an effective, rapid response to 
category 1, immediately life threatening medical emergencies. Responding Firefighters will have the 
necessary skills and equipment to provide effective treatment and support for the patient until 
paramedics arrive. This should not be confused with First Responders, community schemes run by 
the ambulance service utilising people from communities or specialist organisations based within the 
community.

1.2. Co-responders are mobilised via the Fire Control room, who receive the information from 
SWAST control. 

1.3. GFRS co-responders are used when they are the closest medical asset to the incident. Protocols 
will always see an ambulance mobilised in tandem with our firefighter/s, but this may be some time 
depending on location.

1.4. Within GFRS there are 11 stations that Co-respond, all station areas are requested by SWAST 
based on historic ambulance attendance times in the area and the difficulty of meeting the times, 
mostly due to the rural nature of Gloucestershire and its geography.

1.5. Two co-responding models operate within Gloucestershire the first is the original dual response 
model from 2006 and the second is a single response model. The dual response sees two firefighters 
report to their local station after being alerted and the use of a blue light vehicle owned by GFRS 
(this vehicle will have more than one role on the station). The single response model is one 
firefighter who responds from any location in a SWAST provided blue light vehicle whilst undertaking 
their day-to-day business. SWAST prefer the single response model as it is more efficient, but supply 
of single response vehicles is challenging, out of the 11 stations 5 operate dual response and 6 
operate the single response model.

1.6. In terms of activity, in the year 2021, GFRS attended 732 co responding incidents on behalf of 
SWAST. There were a further 403 incidents that the service could not attend after being requested 
by SWAST. This can be for a range of reasons including availability of firefighters or being ‘stood 
down’ by SWAST whilst enroute. It is important to note that where the mobilisation of a Co-
responder, would have a detrimental effect on the availability of a fire appliance, we do not send the 
co-responder as the services statutory responsibility’s come first.

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



Costs:

All staff costs including on costs are re-charged to SWAST. 

Issues:

 The current Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between GFRS and SWAST is outdated. 
 A full review of SWAST collaboration is planned to start in April 2022.
 We have at times found difficulty in agreeing who will supply vehicles training and personal 

protective equipment, mostly due to the out of date MOU.

2. Cardiac Care 

2.1. Cardiac Care started in 2016 with wholetime stations, being mobilised as a full appliance to 
persons with cardiac issues.  As with co-responding this will only take place when the GFRS appliance 
is nearer to the incident and an ambulance is still mobilised. 

2.2. The main purpose of the initiative is to get a Defibrillator onto the patient as soon as possible, 
after the initial heart attack, increasing their chances of survival.

2.3. In 2021, GFRS attended 51 Cardiac care incidents. However, the service could not attend a 
further 62 incidents when requested. As with co-responding there can be a number of reasons for 
this such as being stood down by SWAST. However, it is important to note that one of the leading 
reasons is that Cardiac care is not part of the Firefighters national role map. Therefore, not all staff 
are happy or willing to undertake the activity, and this can lead to stations being unavailable 
dependant on the duty watch.  

2.4. At the start of each shift, fire control will confirm with each wholetime station if they have staff 
on duty who are willing to offer Cardiac care. If a station has agreed they are available, they will be 
mobilised. If they have not agreed, then they will not be mobilised and it is recorded as a non-
attendance.

Costs: 

There is no charge to SWAST for this service as it uses wholetime firefighters already on duty.

Issues:

 There is regular challenge both locally and nationally through trade unions to stop providing 
this service.

 There are challenges from staff over training.
 A full review of SWSAT collaboration is planned to start in April 2022.

3. Concern for Safety

3.1. Concern for Safety is an initiative between SWAST, GFRS and the Police. It is enacted when 
SWAST respond to a locked property with a possible patient inside unable to open the door. The 
ambulance service do not have means of gaining access so would call the Police. They would then 
force enter to the property and due to not having the appropriate equipment, this would often 
result in extensive damage.  Therefore, using powers within the Fire Services Act, that state that Fire 
and Rescue have the power to entry a property where there is concern for a person’s welfare. In 
2016, GFRS took on the responsibility for gaining access when requested by SWAST. Furthermore, 
having more appropriate equipment we can often gain access without much or any damage. 

Page 16



Nevertheless, if damage is unavoidable, Police still take the responsibility for organising a contractor 
to secure the property through boarding up. 

3.2. Not only does this collaborative working assist SWAST and provide better outcomes to patients, 
it also alleviates pressure on Police colleagues.

3.3. In 2021, the service attended 265 ‘Concern for Safety’ incidents across all stations in 
Gloucestershire.

Costs:

There is no recharge for this activity as it fits within all services statuary responsibilities.  

Issues:

 Possible issue regarding the capacity of the service to continually develop equipment and 
training in regards to entry procedures. 

4. Operation Braidwood

4.1. Operation Braidwood started in 2020 and has seen Firefighters staffing and driving ambulances 
in Gloucestershire and the South West because of the COVID pandemic. The focus of this initiative 
was to utilise already trained drivers in emergency response driving and upskill them to be able to 
drive ambulances. GFRS were part of a Southwest working group that included all FRS’s in the region 
with the aim of providing firefighters to drive ambulances.

4.2. GFRS firefighters started to drive ambulances in August 2020 and the service is still providing 
support when this report was completed. From 2nd Nov 2020 to date, GFRS staff covered a total of 
1146 shifts with SWAST and attended 3694 calls. 

Costs:

All costs including on-costs are re-charged to SWAST.

Issues:

 Some difficulty in management of staffs working hours.
 Some difficulty in tracking staff welfare as when on shift the individual is seconded to 

SWAST. 

5. Use of GFRS facilities by SWAST

5.1. Four fire stations around the county are used by SWAST for welfare facilities (toilets, rest chairs 
and kitchen area) both Cheltenham stations, Nailsworth and Gloucester North. Two others are used 
by SWAST for change of shift and storage, Gloucester South and Dursley.

Cost:

There is no charge for either Cheltenham stations or Gloucester North. However, due to the 
different usage there is an annual charge to SWAST for Gloucester South, Nailsworth and Dursley. 

 Issues:

 Only local issue around station parking, vehicle movements and use of the drill yard.  

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
  

GFRS _SC Paper 

Page 1 of 8   
 

Briefing Paper – Operation Braidwood 

  

Date 16/02/2021 

Brief Title: 
Operation Braidwood – Mutual Aid Support from Fire and Rescue 
Services 

 

Prepared by:   Derek McCullough, EPRR Manager  

Presented to: Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service Scrutiny Committee  

 

Action:   

 
To provide an overview of the collaborative work undertaken between the 
Fire and Recuse Services and South Western Ambulance service, as part 
of the United Kingdom Covid 19 pandemic response  
 

Recommendation: 

 
This paper is accepted as an accurate record of the achievements and 
effectiveness of the partnership working between Gloucestershire Fire 
and Rescue Service and South Western Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust   
 
 

 

Executive 
Summary:   

 
The partnership working between the 5 fire and rescue services, including 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, known as Operation 
Braidwood,  has delivered many positives both in terms of the continuity 
of patient care during extreme pressures experienced by SWAST, service 
delivery protection, partnership working and new skills set developments 
that it is an opportunity that should be capitalised on for the future 
services to the Public  
 
 

Page 19



 

 
  

GFRS _SC Paper 

Page 2 of 8   
 

Operation Braidwood 
 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1      During the South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust’s (SWAST) 
response to the initial wave of Covid19, in March 2020, it successfully introduced ‘dual 
crewing’ of a number of its ambulances, in partnership with Cornwall, Devon & 
Somerset, Dorset & Wiltshire, Avon and Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Services. 
These ambulances were crewed by 1 Fire Fighter and a member of SWAST staff  

1.2      Following the passing of the first wave of Covid19 in the South West, this mutual aid 
was stood down in August 2020, having responded to over 6000 calls and significantly 
contributing to the continuity of patient care. 

1.3      Since then United Kingdom experienced further waves of Covid19 infections and in 
November 2020, in response SWAST agreed with the 5 Fire and Rescue Services in 
the South West to reactivate this mutual aid, known as Operation Braidwood, to 
safeguard the Trust’s service delivery and to protect patient care in communities across 
the Trust area.  

1.4 These dual crewed ambulances have made and continue to make a significant and 
positive impact in ensuring that during demand surges, every patient will get the care 
they need. 

2. Background 

2.1      SWAST continues to respond to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. Resource 
Escalation Action Plan (REAP) level is currently at its highest level and has been for 
some months, as many English Ambulance Trusts are  

2.2      To maintain service delivery and ensure that the wider NHS is not overwhelmed, once 
lockdown restrictions were eased, consideration was been given to a number of mutual 
aid threads. Generally, this would be managed with cross boarder assistance from 
neighbouring NHS Ambulance Trusts. 

2.3      However, as demand has significantly impacted all other NHS Ambulance Trust’s it was 
unlikely that mutual aid using this traditional model would be sustainable, SWAST 
approached its partner agencies, including Fire and Rescue services to request the 
provision of mutual aid, a request which was supported by the Local Resilience Forums 
/ Strategic Co-ordination Groups 

2.4    The model adopted was for fire fighters with an Emergency Fire Appliance Drivers                                 
qualification to crew with a SWAST member of staff and undertake emergency driving 
and support skills to the SWAST member of staff, which was a unique model compared 
to other ambulance Trust that had sought fire and rescue or military assistance 

 

Page 20



 

 
  

GFRS _SC Paper 

Page 3 of 8   
 

 

2.5     This project was a fantastic example of partnership working, as part of the Covid19 
response and therefore SWAST and all FRS’s have taken the opportunity to display to 
patients and the wider Public, the supreme efforts that were being made to ensure they 
receive the care they need throughout this pandemic. FRS personnel have worn service 
issued non fire fighting uniform whilst on duty, in order to positively represent their own 
organisation. 

3. On-boarding  

 

 
3.1 During the last week of March 2020, like many other service providers, SWAST as was 

busy planning for business continuity, following the confirmation that the Covid 19 (C19) 
pandemic would be affecting the United Kingdom imminently. 
 

3.2 SWAST linked with Imperial College London, to start providing data on the predicted  
impact of C19 and as a result developed a suite of contingencies, to sustain patient 
care against the increased demand, loss of its own staff and impact on the wider NHS 
health community as a whole 
 

3.3 One of these contingencies was to link with partner agencies that had a skill set that 
could be used by SWAST and naturally the fire and rescue service met  that need 
 

3.4 It must be commended that within a two week period an agreement had been reached 
with each of the five fire and rescue services that are within SWAST’s footprint, 
including Gloucestershire Fire and rescue Service, which is testament to the forward 
thinking and partnership working between the 6 organisations and their nominated 
leads  
 

3.5 Each FRS sought expressions of interest from its staff,  to support ambulance driving 
and within GFRS, a total of 57 fire fighters have stepped up to support SWAST, 
equating to over 10% of the workforce  

 
3.6 A concept of operations was agreed and several training centres were established in 

order to provide fire fighters with equipment and vehicle familiarisation to be able to 
safely operate and support SWAST staff   

 
3.7 On 13th April 2020 the first shifts where fire fighters were working alongside SWAST 

staff commenced with GFRS going ‘live’ on 27th April  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



 

 
  

GFRS _SC Paper 

Page 4 of 8   
 

4. Training  

 
4.1 In order for fire fighters to have safe systems of work, be effective in supporting the 

SWAST clinician and meet some essential criteria for all persons who are patient facing, 
a short training course was developed, which was then augmented once fire fighters 
arrived for shift, by SWAST Operational Commanders through vocational training  

 
 

4.2 As Operation Braidwood developed and in between C19 surges a more in depth training 
package was developed and all fire fighters were required to complete a skills passport 
(appendix 1) 

 

5. Phases and tasking  

 
5.1 During the initial phase fire fighters were crewed to Emergency Care Assistants and were 

tasked to low acuity patients, following triage, or to patients that had already been 
assessed by a health care clinicians. 
 

5.2 These resources would also have been tasked to immediate life threatening calls such a 
cardiac arrest, if they were the nearest resource, in order to provide immediate aid until 
advanced life support / critical care could arrive and continue care 

 
  

5.3 As demand increased and acuity of patients were increasing due to C19, a second phase 
was developed, supported by the skills passport, in order that fire fighters could crew with 
a Paramedic and be tasked to all categories of calls, which allowed for more integration 
of fire fighters into SWAST and for SWAST to be responsive to patient needs  

  

 
6. Activity – Table 1 shows the number of incidents attended by a SWAST / Fire Fighter dual 

crew during phase 1 (March – August 2020)  
 

  
 

698 

2015 
1450 

787 
748 

Total Mutual Aid Activity 

CFRS

DSFRS

DWFRS

AFRS

GFRS

Page 22



 

 
  

GFRS _SC Paper 

Page 5 of 8   
 

Table 2 shows the activity from November 2020 until 12th February 2022 
 
Key: 
 
Category 1 – Calls from people with life-threatening illnesses or injuries.  
Category 2 – Emergency calls 
Category 3 – Urgent calls 
Category 4 – Less urgent calls 
Category 5 – Locally agreed  
ROSC – return of spontaneous circulation post cardiac arrest  

 
 

Rolling 
Total 
activity 
since 2nd 
Nov 2020 

Fire & Rescue 
Service 

Number of 
Shifts 

Cat 1 Cat 2 Cat 3 Cat 4 Cat 5 Number 
of 
transfers 

Total 
Number 
of calls 

Number 
of hours 
actively 
engaged 
at 
incidents 

Number 
of 
patients 
treated 
and 
discharg
ed at 
scene 

Number 
of Covid 
Patients 

Number of 
patients 
transported 
to 
Nightingale 
Hospital 

ROSC 

  Cornwall 931 554 1476 783 106 18 195 3132 6816 940 55 7 24 

  
Devon & 
Somerset 

2248 1519 5553 2289 179 55 402 9997 17241 2727 297 14 36 

  
Dorset & 
Wiltshire 

1541 1178 3119 1948 78 22 374 6719 12833 2302 228 73 40 

  Avon 2166 1749 1162 2031 191 35 1243 6411 3283 2684 293 78 40 

  Gloucestershire 1157 581 1809 1161 51 18 117 3737 6820 1033 141 113 42 

Total   8043 5581 1311 8212 605 148 2331 29996 46992 9686 1014 285 182 

 
 

P
age 23



 

 
  

GFRS _SC Paper 

Page 6 of 8   
 

 
7. Benefits analysis 

 
7.1 At the outset of this joint partnership working both SWAST and GFRS were operating in 
an emergency response mode to the threat of the pandemic. As such the foreseen benefit 
was maintenance of service and therefore delivery of patient care. However overtime there 
is now evidence of a number of quality benefits that have been delivered, that include; 
 

 Improved patient experience – many positive plaudits received from patients and 
families of patients recognizing the care they have received and the partnership 
working  
 

  GFRS & SWAST positive Public relations – high profile media both through 
television reports and social media  
 

 Joint Training – increase in local GFRS and SWAST networking that has led to 
increase joint training  

 

 Skills set – fire fighters returning to fire stations with new skills to share amongst 
crew on patient care and handling and trauma management. This is also 
reciprocated with ambulance staff having an increased knowledge of safe systems of 
work and increased awareness of home safety plans 

 
 An increasing number of retained fire fighters that have changed their main career 

and have joined SWAST as Emergency Care Assistants which in turn helps enhance 
fire crew pooled skills 

 
 GFRS continues to lead the cardiac care response scheme with a number of other 

FRS’s looking to adopt a similar scheme  
 

 Improved understanding of the NHS ambulance service by fire fighters and how it 
links in to continued care once a casualty leaves scene as well as managing 
expectations   

 
 Improved situation awareness at incidents where GFRS and SWAST are working 

together, helping embed the JESIP doctrine  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 24



 

 
  

GFRS _SC Paper 

Page 7 of 8   
 

 
8. Future legacy  

 
8.1 With the current easing of C19 and the Government drive towards a new normal and 

living with C19, the continued agreement between the 5 Chief Fire Officers and SWAST 
Chief Executive Officer is due to end after Easter 2022 
 

8.2 Operation Braidwood  has delivered so many positives both in terms of the continuity of 
patient care during extreme pressures experienced by SWAST, service delivery 
protection, partnership working and new skills set developments that it is an opportunity 
that should be capitalised on for the future 

 

 
8.3 This will ensure  future organisational professional growth and resilience for both GFRS 

and SWAST and this paper recommends that the achievements of Operation 
Braidwood be recognised and plaudit  and that key staff work on enhancing future 
collaboration and maximising the legacy that Operation Braidwood will leave once it 
closes 

 
 

9. Recognition 
 

9.1  Through this paper SWAST would like to recognise and thank the Gloucestershire Fire 
and Rescue Service Chief Fire Officer, his management team and the fire fighters that 
stepped up to the challenge, for the unswerving support, professionalism and partnership 
working that SWAST has received, understanding the pressures that GFRS have 
experienced through C19 alongside the many other requests for support that the service 
received  

 

  
Derek McCullough - EPRR Manager 

 

Page 25



 

 
  

GFRS _SC Paper 

Page 8 of 8   
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 26



 

 

Page 1 of 5 

Fire Fighter Development Passport 
                       

Operation BRAIDWOOD 
 

Fire Fighter Name: 

 

 

SWAST Number: 

 

 

Fire & Rescue Service  

 

 

Date Training Commenced: 

 

 

Date Training Completed: 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



 

 

Page 2 of 5 

Aim: 

The aim of this passport is to have a structured approach to the development of fire fighters in order 

to support ambulance service resources providing patient care. 

Identifying individual training needs – SWOT Analysis: 

Self-Assessment SWOT Analysis 

Self-assessment is the first step of your development; you need to know your strengths and weakness, 

interests and skills etc. You should talk confidently about your skills and attributes in order to 

communicate them effectively to others. It is also important to receive feedback from others (colleagues, 

preceptor, managers etc.) as often we do not see ourselves as others do. 

The information you gain from your self-assessment will help you to identify the knowledge and skills 

you need to fulfil your development role and where any support may be required to help you achieve 

this. 

Self-assessment is the first step in your development planning so complete the tool on the next pages 

and discuss these with your manager/mentor. You can then document your needs (objectives) within a 

Personal Development Plan and consider ways of meeting these needs which would then contribute to 

your career conversation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



 

 

Page 3 of 5 

SWOT Analysis 

Use this tool to assist you in identifying your learning and development needs.  Don’t forget, you 

need only to share what you feel happy about someone else seeing but if your line manager/mentor 

is unaware of a particular concern they won’t be able to provide you support. 

Strengths/Skills Weakness/Needs 

  

Opportunities Threats 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



 

 

Page 4 of 5 

Workshops:  

Workshops have been designed to meet the outstanding learning objectives of the FRS role. It 

is essential that each workshop is attended and documented.  

Workshop: Date Attended: Trainer/LDO 

Moving & Handling (FRS 2): 

- Basic Theory 

- Mangar Elk 

- Pedi Mate 

- Assisting to walk 

- Falling patient 

 

2 hour workshop 

  

Management of the choking 

patient (FRS 3): 

- Common causes of 

airway obstruction 

- Adults 

- Child 

- Baby 

1 hour workshop 

  

Basic Life Support (FRS 4): 

- Identifying cardiac 

arrest  

- DRABC 

- BLS Adult  

- BLS Child 

- Hypothermic patients 

 

2 hour workshop 

  

Base line observations (FRS 

5): 

- Equipment, including 

setting up the 

mobimed/zoll 

- Undertake base line 

observations 

 

1 hour workshop 

  

Page 30



 

 

Page 5 of 5 

 

Supporting the clinician (FRS 

7 & 8) 

- Airway management 

- IV/IO access 

 

1 hour workshop 

  

Safeguarding Level 2 (FRS 

9): 

 

3-4 hour workshop 

  

Health and Safety (FRS 11): 

 

1 hour workshop 

  

Trauma Equipment (FRS 12): 

2 hour session 

  

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Community Risk Management Plan Update

Gloucestershire County Council Fire and Rescue Scrutiny Committee

Date of meeting: 04/03/2022

Background

Between 1 October 2021 and 26 November 2021, GFRS carried out a public 
consultation on the draft CRMP. This is in line GCC policy and the requirements of the 
Fire and Rescue National Framework for England (2018). 

The consultation was carried out in accordance with the Gunning Principles:

1. proposals are still at a formative stage
2. there is sufficient information to give ‘intelligent consideration’
3. there is adequate time for consideration and response
4. ‘conscientious consideration’ must be given to the consultation responses 

before a decision is made

In total, there was 247 responses to the survey, with 1,300 visitors to the consultation 
page online. There was over 1,000 clicks on the facebook ad, which also had a reach 
of 143,786. In addition to this, there was also a reach of 135.6K on twitter. 

When analysing the feedback of the consultation, overall, the responses received 
showed strong support for each of the proposals. The consultation highlighted that 
there was not enough emphasis on learning and development and also that some of 
the wording in the objectives was unclear.

Amendments to the CRMP following consultation

To demonstrate the strategic intent of the CRMP objectives, all of the proposed 
objectives are now aligned to the strategic aims within the CRMP document. 

To incorporate the feedback from the consultation regarding learning and 
development, an additional objective has been added to the People strategic aim. The 
objective demonstrates how we are going to ensure the development and wellbeing 
of our workforce. 

The wording of some of the objectives has been amended following the feedback from 
the consultation where comments stated that they found the wording unclear. 

Based on the changes above and the potential findings from the HMICFRS report, the 
CRMP has been extended by a year to allow capacity to incorporate these changes 
and the additional work required from the HMICFRS inspection findings. This means 
that the CRMP will now run until 2026 instead of 2025. 

To demonstrate to the public how GFRS measures and evaluates the success of the 
CRMP, metrics have been added to the CRMP document. 

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



CRMP Strategic Aims and Objectives

Strategic Aim – People “Ensure our services are delivered by a professional, well 
equipped, highly skilled, motivated and well developed workforce which is able to work 
safely and whose composition reflects our diverse community.” 

Objective - People and Social Responsibility
Further, improve our inclusive culture to ensure that we attract, retain, support 
and develop a diverse workforce, which is truly representative of our 
communities.

Objective – Workforce ‘Fit for the future’ 
Develop and shape our Workforce to be ‘fit for the future’, strengthening health 
and wellbeing and ensuring that our people are equipped with the knowledge, 
skills and experience to continue building a safe, effective and resilient service to 
the people of Gloucestershire.

Strategic Aim – Prevention and Protection “Work with our local communities to 
reduce risks to life, property and the environment from fire and other emergencies. 

Objective - Prevention
Deliver tailored prevention        activities that effectively and efficiently improve the 
safety, health and wellbeing of the diverse people who live, work in or visit 
Gloucestershire.

Objective - Protection
Deliver protection activities, to include inspections, audits, education and 
enforcement, which continue to reduce the likelihood and impact of fire in 
commercial buildings across Gloucestershire and reduce the risk to both 
the public and firefighters.

Strategic aim – Response and Resilience “Respond promptly and efficiently 
to deal with fires and other emergencies when they occur. 

Objective - Response Arrangements
Review our existing arrangements to ensure that we have the required 
number of resources, with the right people and equipment, at the right time, 
in the right location.

Objective - Response Standards
Implement National Operational Guidance and approved National Fire 
Standards to assure and support operational competence, learning and 
preparedness.

Objective - Collaboration
Collaboration is important in every organisation. We will collaborate by 
communicating with partners and building on ideas to innovate or do 
something differently in the public’s interest.

Strategic Aim – Our Performance “Monitor our performance to ensure that we 
continually improve and deliver value for money.”

Page 34



Objective - Asset Management
Continue to provide best value facilities, vehicles, equipment and personal 
protective equipment (PPE), enabling us to deliver a professional service 
to our communities.

Objective - Digital, Data and Technology
Increase the use of data and business intelligence tools to ensure that we 
understand our risks and maximise the use of technology to respond 
appropriately to those risks.

Please note that the CRMP document accompanying this report is draft 
and will be proceeding to GCC Design.

Next steps

Process Date
CLT Meeting 03 March 2022
Cabinet Meeting 30 March 2022
CRMP live April 2022

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



www.glosfire.gov.uk

"Working Together for a Safer Gloucestershire"

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service
Community Risk Management Plan 2022 - 2026P

age 37

http://www.glosfire.gov.uk/


 Contents

2

Foreword………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 3

About our Service Area……………………………………………………….…………………………. 4

Current Response Standards…………………………………………………………………………… 5

What is a Community Risk Management Plan………………………………………………………… 6

How do we Identify Risk…………………..……………………………………………………………... 7

Our Community…………………………..……………………………………………………………..... 8

Mission, Values and Code of Ethics..………………………………………………………………….. 9

Strategic Objectives....................................................................................................................... 10

Prevention ……………...………………………………………………………………………………… 11

Protection …………...……………………………………………………………………………………. 12

Response Standards.……………………………………………………………………………………. 13

Response Arrangements………………………………………………………………………………… 14

People and Social Responsibility….……….......................................................................................... 15

Collaboration……………………………………………………………………….. 16

Digital, Data and Technology……………………………………………………………………………………….. 17

Asset Management………………………….…………………………………………………………………... 18

Timelines…………………............................................................................................................... 19

Consultation……………….............................................................................................................. 20

P
age 38



 Foreword

3

Welcome to Gloucestershire County Council’s Fire and Rescue Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) 
covering the 2022 - 26 period.

As the Fire and Rescue Authority, and governing body for the county, Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) has 
a legal duty to ensure that we provide a highly effective and efficient Fire and Rescue Service that is also value 
for money. The CRMP is the vision of how we plan to mitigate the risks to our communities over the coming 
years.

The Service continues to face wide-ranging challenges from a continually evolving risk picture, new legislation 
and national drivers that require it to ‘reform’. This plan will demonstrate to the people of Gloucestershire the 
dedication and commitment made to ensuring their ongoing safety and provides assurance that ‘come what may’ 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) is prepared for every eventuality and able to react accordingly.

“Working together we will provide the highest standard of community safety and emergency response
services to the communities of Gloucestershire”

GCC made a declaration to reach net zero emissions by 2030. GFRS has a part to play in achieving that goal and 
has already taken steps to support this by moving away from diesel powered response vehicles where it can. 
Meanwhile the effects of climate change are all around us and this is reflected in our operational response e.g. 
flooding incidents. This is a frequent and expected event in parts of Gloucestershire but occasionally we see 
flooding in areas previously unaffected and the expectation for us to take action to protect peoples property and 
possessions is naturally high. We have equipment available at our disposal, the necessary training and national 
memorandum of understanding that ensures we can draw on resources far and wide should we need them. 

Overall we continue to seek ethical and sustainable procurement for our consumable items, our Personal 
Protective Clothing and equipment and include the learning from many months of Covid - 19. Our agile working 
programme has been accelerated by the pandemic and evolved to reduce unnecessary journeys for meetings 
and other events by interacting virtually thereby reducing our carbon footprint.

We remain confident that, with the unstinting support of the GCC, GFRS will deliver a high class prevention, 
protection and response service to the communities of Gloucestershire for the foreseeable future living up to the 
Service’s mission statement.

Dave Norman
Lead Cabinet Member 
Gloucestershire County Council

Mark Preece
Interim Chief Fire Officer 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service

P
age 39



 About our Service Area

4

Gloucestershire is a diverse county covering 1,024 square miles and hosting a population of 
approximately 640,000. The county is divided into six districts, City of Gloucester, Cheltenham, Forest of 
Dean, Tewkesbury, Cotswold and Stroud.

Over half of Gloucestershire’ County has been designated as an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB), including parts of the Cotswold's, the Wye Valley and the Forest of Dean. The main urban 
centres are Gloucester and Cheltenham where approximately half of the county’s population live.

GFRS has 32 fire engines with a further 15 specialist vehicles that ensure we provide a high standard 
emergency response to all incidents in all 
areas. These vehicles are crewed by  on-
call and whole-time firefighters and both 
are supported by a core of flexible duty 
Officers and non operational staff at its 
Quedgeley Headquarters or, due to the 
pandemic, from other premises and home 
addresses.

As a Service, we border six other 
Fire and Rescue Services (South 
Wales, Herefordshire and
Worcestershire, Warwickshire, 
Oxford shire, Dorset & Wiltshire and 
Avon), providing mutual cross-border 
support to one another if and when 
required.

P
age 40



 Current Response Standards

5

How do we measure the time that it takes us to respond to an incident?

A response time is measured from the time the call is received by Fire Control to the time that a fire engine arrives at the incident.

The response time is made up of three elements:-

Current Response Standards

Dwelling fires - We will attend dwelling fires based on an average 
response time of 9 minutes or under.

Commercial fires - We will attend commercial fires based on an 
average response time of 10 minutes or under.

Primary fires - We will attend primary fires based on an average 
response  time of 10 minutes or under.

Proposal for the future

We always aim to get to emergencies as fast as we can, every
time. However, we have to be sophisticated in how we allocate our 
resources based on the level of risk and the severity of an incident. 
We measure our response standards to ensure that our resources 
are in the most appropriate location and that the staffing models 
enable us to achieve the best response for the communities that 
we serve. As part of response arrangements objective, the service 
will look to review its current response standards.

P
age 41



 What is a Community Risk Management Plan?

6

The Fire Authority has a statutory responsibility, under the Fire and 
Rescue Services Act 2004, to produce a CRMP. The plan must cover at 
least a three year period, be reviewed regularly and outline how GFRS 
will tackle and mitigate the risks our communities face. The CRMP is 
informed by our Community Risk Profile (CRP), a document which  
assesses in detail the risks in our local areas, how likely they are to 
occur, how extensive the impact might be and also takes into account 
national risks.

As an over-arching plan the CRMP covers all parts of our Service, 
referencing key documents such as our Service Strategies, Annual 
Service Plan and our Team Plans. This helps everyone in our 
organisation to understand risks and how we plan to reduce the impact 
and respond effectively.

The requirements of a CRMP are set out in the ‘Fire and Rescue National 
Framework for England 2018’. This states that each Fire Authority must 
ensure the following five priorities are met: -

1. To be accountable to the communities for the service they provide;

2. To identify and assess the full range of foreseeable fire and rescue
related risks their areas face;

3. To make appropriate provision for fire prevention and protection 
activities and response to fire and rescue related incidents;

4. To develop and maintain a workforce that is professional, resilient, 
skilled, flexible and delivers;

5. To collaborate with emergency services and other local and national 
partners to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of the service they 
provide.

You will find details of how we address all of the above points throughout 
this plan.

The National Framework also states what CRMP’s must contain and this 
includes an outline of how we allocate our resources to mitigate risks, and 
how we manage and enforce the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 
(RRO) 2005 in relation to business fire safety.

The CRMP will also show you how we have consulted with you, our 
communities, on the development of this plan as well as how we sought 
the options of our staff, representative bodies and partner organisations.

This plan covers the period April 2022 to March 2026 and is reviewed on 
an annual basis to ensure our plans are always up to date and reflect 
changes in local risks, national policies or finances.

At the end of every year we are required to publish a Statement of 
Assurance which outlines how we have performed against our plan and 
the targets set out in it. The transparency this provides makes us fully 
accountable to the communities of Gloucestershire for the service we 
provide to them.

P
age 42

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705060/National_Framework_-_final_for_web.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705060/National_Framework_-_final_for_web.pdf


 How do we Identify Risk?

7

Community Risk Profiles

GFRS has conducted a thorough risk 
analysis of previous incidents, fire safety 
audits and safe and well visits and future 
risks that could lead to emergency incidents 
in the future. Our risk information comes 
from a number of sources and helps us to 
develop our Community Risk Profiles (Link 
to CRPs).

The CRP’s inform our decision making 
regarding the most suitable prevention, 
protection and emergency response 
arrangements to manage risk to an 
acceptable level.

The risks we consider include: -

 Fatalities, reflecting the number of 
people killed at an incident.

 Casualties, covering those requiring 
medical intervention resulting from an 
incident and mental health casualties.

 Evacuation and shelter from hazardous 
events

 Behaviour, public perception and  
anxiety.

 Economy, to include property damage,
heritage loss and business disruption.

 Disruption to essential services 
including transport, utilities, finance, 
communications and other Emergency 
Services.

 Environmental risks including all types 
of pollution to the environment.

P
age 43



 Our Community

8

Although Gloucestershire has an affluent and successful economy, which is generally true, it is not evenly shared. There is evidence to show a link 
between social deprivation and the occurrence of fire, and as such our prevention and protection work, as well as our emergency response has to be 
tailored to the differing needs of each community that we serve.

To ensure that we meet the needs of Gloucestershire and our local communities, it is essential that we make sure that we have the right people, with the 
right equipment, in the right place and at the right time. To enable this, we need to understand the diverse risks and impacts within our area.

P
age 44



 Mission, Values and Code of Ethics

9

Code of Ethics:

The National Fire Chiefs Council, with the Local Government Association, have produced a Code of 
Ethics for Fire and Rescue Services, to be adopted by every service in England. The Code of Ethics 
reflects best practice principles and has been designed to underpin the way we serve our communities, 
carry out our role and work together.

Strategic Aims and Mission Statement:

 

Values:

Our commitment to you is that we will always aim to be the best 
FRS we can be. In order to achieve this, there are certain 
behaviours that we expect from our staff. How well our staff are 
demonstrating these as part of their day to day job is assessed 
within our bespoke appraisal system. We aim to live these values 
every day: -

P
age 45



 Strategic Objectives

10

Our strategic objectives have been drawn from several sources over recent years 
and have been aligned to our strategic aims. Our Cultural Review was conducted 
evidencing need for cultural change within our Service. Whilst much work has been 
done we know we have much more to do.

GCC internal audit were welcomed into the Service to inspect our policies, 
procedures and processes. 18 reports with 118 recommendations were addressed 
through the establishment of an Improvement Board over the successive 2 years and 
we need to continue to reflect on and review our practices.

Our first formal inspection by Her Majesty's Inspectorate for Constabulary's Fire and 
Rescue Service (HMICFRS) highlighted the need for improvements across our 
Service.

All of the above has assisted to make the Service more self-aware. In response we 
have established our Portfolio Management Office (PMO). This is designed to 
manage all projects and tasks, including those identified by our Cultural Review and 
our HMICFRS findings. Building on the success of our Improvement Board,   we 
have established a Portfolio Management Board who scrutinise progress across all 
areas and provide, advice, support and resources where required to ensure we are 
progressing on our continuous improvement journey. In addition, we have learnt 
many new ways of working during Covid - 19 that are an improvement on our usual 
practices and these will become embedded into future ways of workings.

All of the above, coupled with our community risk profiling and our professional 
judgement, have built the foundations for the next 4 years:

Strategic Aim – People “Ensure our services are delivered by a professional, well 
equipped, highly skilled, motivated and well developed workforce which is able to 
work safely and whose composition reflects our diverse community.” 

Objective - People and Social Responsibility
Further improve our inclusive culture to ensure that we attract, retain, 
support and develop a diverse workforce, which is truly representative of our 
communities.

Objective – Workforce ‘Fit for the future’ 
Develop and shape our Workforce to be ‘fit for the future’, strengthening 
health and wellbeing and ensuring that our people are equipped with the 
knowledge , skills and experience to continue building a safe, effective and 
resilient service to the people of Gloucestershire.

Strategic Aim – Prevention and Protection “Work with our local communities to 
reduce risks to life, property and the environment from fire and other emergencies. 

Objective - Prevention
Deliver tailored prevention activities that effectively and efficiently improve the safety, health 
andwellbeing of the diverse people who live, work in or visit Gloucestershire.

Objective - Protection
Deliver protection activities, to include inspections, audits, education and 
enforcement, which continue to reduce the likelihood and impact of fire in 
commercial buildings across Gloucestershire and reduce the risk to both the public 
and firefighters.

Strategic aim – Response and Resilience “Respond promptly and efficiently to deal with 
fires and other emergencies when they occur. 

Objective - Response Arrangements
Review our existing arrangements to ensure that we have the required number of 
resources, with the right people and equipment, at the right time, in the right 
location.

Objective - Response Standards
Implement National Operational Guidance and approved National Fire Standards to 
assure and support operational competence, learning and preparedness.

Objective - Collaboration
Collaboration is important in every organisation. We will collaborate by 
communicating with partners and building on ideas to innovate or do something 
differently in the public’s interest.

Strategic Aim – Our Performance “Monitor our performance to ensure that we continually 
improve and deliver value for money.”

Objective - Asset Management
Continue to provide best value facilities, vehicles, equipment and personal 
protective equipment (PPE), enabling us to deliver a professional service to our 
communities.

Objective - Digital, Data and Technology
Increase the use of data and business intelligence tools to ensure that we 
understand our risks and maximise the use of technology to respond appropriately 
to those risks.

Whilst we know ‘what’ we need to do, we detail the ‘why’ and the ‘how’ over the successive 
pages. Finally, we describe the timelines to ensure we provide assurance that our CRMP is 
providing the desired outcomes.

P
age 46



 Strategic Objectives

11

People

P
age 47



12

                             People and Social Responsibility                
Further improve our inclusive culture to ensure that we 
attract, retain, support and develop a diverse workforce, 
which is truly representative of our communities.
Our team is stronger, safer and more effective when each and everyone of us is given the opportunity to contribute our 
best; irrespective of race, sex, gender reassignment, age, sexual orientation , religion and/or belief, marriage & civil 
partnerships, pregnancy & maternity or disability.

We recognise that diversity is what makes our organisation successful and drives a healthy culture, so we are committed 
to attracting new staff by being an employer of choice. We know that by promoting the right values, we will positively 
impact the working life of every member of staff and those living within the communities we serve.

We have both a moral and legal duty to move forward as a modern Fire and Rescue Service by driving equality, diversity 
and inclusivity. We know the views and feelings of our staff regarding inclusion and we are committed to improving our 
culture. We want staff to feel confident that any issues they may have will be listened to and addressed in a positive way.

We are focused and determined to provide equality of opportunity for all staff and demonstrate due regard for the value of 
difference, operating in an environment that encourages innovation and does not tolerate inappropriate behaviour.

 Delivering the objectives contained on the cultural section of our Service Improvement plan.
 Increasing our resources and capacity in the right areas to deliver equality, diversity and inclusion work across the 

organisation.
 Developing and maintaining our training for every member of staff regarding cultural intelligence.
 Working in collaboration with other agencies and partners to access the best support and scrutiny over our future 

plans.
 Continuing to ensure that our values and code of ethics drive everything we do.
 Continuing to enhance and develop our innovative recruitment and progression practices to drive inclusivity.
 Reviewing and improving our work on positive action.
 Developing our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) Network to strengthen their influence on the Service.
 Increasing engagement through visible leadership and the use of our EDI Network to ensure staff have a voice in 

shaping the future of our Service.

P
age 48



13

       Workforce – Fit for the future                          
Develop and shape our Workforce to be ‘fit for the future’, strengthening health and 
wellbeing and ensuring that our people are equipped with the knowledge , skills and 
experience to continue building a safe, effective and resilient service to the people 
of Gloucestershire.

Our workforce profile predicts a high number of staff who are expected to retire in the coming years, which presents a significant risk to the 
Service in terms of loss of knowledge, skills and experience. We know that this will be felt most prevalently amongst our operational 
workforce.
Robust succession planning will be crucial to ensure that we rise to these challenges in the future. With an anticipated relatively new 
workforce we must increase our training, development and support to staff at all levels. And, with a changing operational profile, we must find 
new  ways of developing our staff’s operational exposure. 
We know that people are our greatest asset and we must provide a clear vison with opportunity to grow.
The changes expected in our workforce profile also offers us an opportunity to improve and strengthen working practices  and development 
pathways  to shape our own future and ensure the Service we provide to  public is the most effective and efficient as can be. 
We also know that resilience is vital to ensure that we are always there for those that need us … every time they need us. We see supporting  
our people’s physical and mental wellbeing is just as important as training and developing them to carry out their roles. Continually improving 
our working environment will give us highly motivated, engaged and valued staff that can fulfil their full potential. It will also develop a 
workforce whose composition, capacity and competence can deliver best value for the people of Gloucestershire

 · We will deliver the objective’s contained with the Service’s improvement plan.
· By providing strong, values based leaders , who are trusted to the right thing and  lead by example.
· We will Strengthen our succession planning processes and match individuals potential to those needs.
· We will be guided by professional standard to ensure the best quality of service.
· We will improve our development process and pathways to give our staff the best opportunities possible to reach their potential. 
· We will increase, expand and improve our Learning and Development provisions to ensure we have the capacity, flexibility and resources     
to rise to the challenge of our future workforce.
· We will evaluate implement the long term training solution for GFRS at the end of our contract with Severn Park Training centre.
· Make full use of Apprenticeships to offer the highest level of training.
· Develop peoples personal and professional skills and knowledge throughout their careers, providing ongoing support to help them achieve 
their full potential.

P
age 49



14

Prevention and Protection

P
age 50



15

                                    Prevention
Deliver tailored prevention activities that effectively and efficiently 
improve the safety, health and wellbeing of the diverse people who 
live, work in or visit Gloucestershire.

Effective person-centred prevention activities will ensure we maximise our ability to reduce the potential for harm arising from fire and 
other emergencies such as flooding, road traffic collisions, arson and medical crises. To support and enable this we need to further 
develop our understanding of the different ways in which people encounter risk by collecting and analysing data more effectively to 
ensure we maximise our prevention activities.

 Work collaboratively with partners to capture, share and analyse incident data to provide an intelligence led, risk based 
approach to target the vulnerable and most at risk from fire and other emergencies;
 Work collaboratively to maximise capacity and reach, through the use of specialists, firefighters and partners to make every
contact count;
 Collaborate with other Fire & Rescue Services, the voluntary sector, local stakeholders and, where possible, use academic 
research to ensure we develop and deliver effective prevention activities.
 Continue to deliver an effective safe and well Service. 
 Clearly evidence through evaluation, the impact our ongoing activities have on the safety, health and wellbeing of the diverse 
people who live, work in or visit Gloucestershire.
 Actively support the Gloucestershire Road Safety Forum;
 Continue to develop the outstanding work that takes place in SkillZONE and in the community to engage with children and their
families as early as possible to improve their awareness of the risks from fire and other emergencies;
 Continue to actively support, and lead where possible, the work of the adult and child safeguarding partnerships to create a 
fairer and more inclusive society in which people can live healthier and less-isolated lives.

P
age 51



                                       Protection

16

Deliver protection activities, to include inspections, audits, 
education and enforcement, which continue to reduce the 
likelihood and impact of fire in commercial buildings across 
Gloucestershire and reduce the risk to both the public and 
firefighters.

Targeting our resources through an effective intelligence led, Risk Based Inspection Programme will make the built environment 
across Gloucestershire safer through improving fire safety legislation compliance, in accordance with the Regulatory Reform (Fire 
Safety) Order 2005, across the business sector in Gloucestershire. This will improve the safety, health and wellbeing of our 
communities; reduce the economic and psychological loss to business owners and reduce a preventable response undertaken by 
firefighters.

 Work collaboratively with partners to capture, share and analyse incident data that informs our Risk Based Inspection 
Programme
 Work with other regulators and stakeholders to actively engage and educate local businesses, supported by fair and
proportionate enforcement to reduce risk;
 Maximise capacity and enhance firefighter safety by training operational crews to support fire safety and develop a robust 
Business Safe and Well inspection programme.
 Continue to embed the recommendations from the ongoing Grenfell enquiry in partnership with our Learning and 
Development  and control departments to ensure compliance across Gloucestershire.
 Ensure we maintain a highly skilled and sustainable specialist fire safety team that hold the recognised qualifications for 
regulators as set out in the Competence framework for Fire Regulators (2020);
 Ensure continuous improvement through effective evaluation of protection activities utilising audit findings, to inform the annual
Risk Based Inspection Programme.
 Work with the NFCC to actively support and respond to learning from the Grenfell Public Inquiry and the Independent Review of 
Building Regulations.

P
age 52



17

Response and Resilience

22

P
age 53



18

                            Response Arrangements                          
Review our existing arrangements to ensure that we have the 
required number of resources, with the right people and 
equipment, at the right time, in the right location.

There is no ‘one size fits all’ approach to managing a Fire and Rescue Services resources, capacity and capability. In 
addition, Gloucestershire and its communities have different needs and risks to other areas within the country. The priority for 
the Service will always be to safeguard our communities, by preventing harm from occurring in the first place, through our 
Prevention and Protection activities. However, we recognise that emergency incidents will still occur. It is for that reason we 
need to review our fire cover arrangements in response to a changing workforce; risks to the public, firefighters and the 
environment; changing technology; demographics, the lasting effects of Covid - 19 and most of all, to meet the expectations 
of the communities we serve.

In an ever changing environment, we must remain flexible in the delivery of our service. Informed by evidence based risk 
profile, further extensive predictive analysis and insights will help to ensure that we have the right skills, equipment, capacity 
and capability at the right time, in the right location. By capacity we mean the ability of staff present at any one time to provide 
an effective and efficient Prevention, Protection and Response service and by capability we mean the skills, experience, 
knowledge and training of those staff present to provide community focused outcomes.

 Perform scenario modelling of our existing fire cover, specialist appliances and emergency medical response 
arrangements.
 Modernise the staffing model for on-call firefighters and attract a more diverse range of applicants by performing an
extensive review of the current system
 Undertake a systematic review of our mobilisation and attendance times, exploring innovative solutions to improve on 
them.
 Explore the use and location of technology to support the command of operational incidents.
 Ensure that we continually learn from incidents. 
 Continue to support National Resilience assets and capabilities, such as, wide area flooding and wildfires. 
 Review our existing response standards.

P
age 54



                                Response Standards

19

Implement National Operational Guidance and approved
       National Fire Standards to assure and support operational 

competence, learning and preparedness.

Fire and Rescue incidents are wide ranging and varied. Historically we have created standard operating procedures to deal with 
them, created from written risk assessments, that inform our training and provide ongoing guidance for our incident commanders. 
Unfortunately, every Fire and Rescue Service in the UK has done the same and there can be some slight differences in approach 
and terminology. As a consequence National Operational Guidance has been written that provides Fire and Rescue Services 
with a clear framework for attending and training for all operational activities. This ensures a more joined up approach when 
working at overborder incidents or at national large scale multi-agency incidents such as flooding events, acts of terrorism and 
incidents that threaten our environment. In addition a raft of National Fire Standards are being written to ensure there is a 
nationally recognised training standard in support of this National Operational Guidance. Finally, where we attend incidents we 
will debrief them and share our learning nationally. Aligning our guidance and training will not only help us to prepare and plan for 
emergencies, but to contribute to improving firefighter safety and the safety of the much wider community.

 Renew and update our operational procedures and guidance to align with National Operational Guidance.
 Refresh and renew the skills of our operational and Fire Control staff through practical and theoretical learning.
 Plan for major incidents through exercising and testing.
 Work with partners to enhance our response to large scale and multi-agency incidents
 Share learning with our neighbouring Fire and Rescue Services and across the wider sector to ensure that National

Operational Guidance remains current.
 Continue to develop how we provide firefighters with relevant and accurate operational risk information. 
 We will regularly review and update our training to ensure we are adhering to best practice.

P
age 55



                                         Collaboration                                    

20

Collaboration is important in every organisation. We will 
collaborate by communicating with partners and building on 
ideas to innovate or do something differently in the  public’s 
interest.

GFRS has collaboration arrangements for its prevention, protection and response activities. For example, we share our 
buildings with Gloucestershire Constabulary, the South West Ambulance Service and the Severn Area Rescue Association. 
Our protection teams inspect premises with the Building Control and Housing Teams where applicable and we refer some of 
our Safe and Well clients to Social Services and other partners who can address and support with other issues. Where the law 
permits, collaborative work can include the sharing of information in support of Children and Adult Services in the best interest 
of those affected. When collaboration works well it enables us to achieve more as a collective team and the benefits are 
tangible, but over time we may have arrangements that need reviewing to ensure they best serve the public interest. The 
Policing and Crime Act 2017 requires the Police, Fire and Rescue and Ambulance Services to keep collaboration opportunities    
under review and, where it is in the mutual interest of efficiency or effectiveness, to put new arrangements into practice.

 A comprehensive collaboration plan with the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC)

 Collaboration with other blue light services, including a rationalisation and sharing of estates as well as looking for joined up 
working practices.

 Continuing to evaluate and improve our campaigns by learning from others.
 Exploring opportunities for collaborative working and partnership development to maximise safety messages and 

campaigns building on what we have learnt throughout the pandemic.
 Building a Collaboration Framework so that we can demonstrate where we are providing added value and to assist us with

ongoing reviews.
 Review our collaboration and partnership agreements to ensure they continue to deliver the best value for our 

communities.

P
age 56



21

Performance

P
age 57



22

                            Asset Management                                      

Continue to provide best value facilities, vehicles, equipment 
and personal protective equipment (PPE), enabling us to deliver 
a professional service to our communities.

We are aware of the changing risks within our communities and recognise there is a need to procure a range of professional 
services to  maintain a wide range of assets for our staff to deliver a professional service to our communities. When considering 
the renewal or enhancement of our assets, we need to consider the extent to which expenditure increases our effectiveness 
and efficiency to prevent, protect and respond to the significant range of emergency incidents we are called to attend. Overall, 
we continue to seek ethical and sustainable procurement for our consumable items, our PPE and equipment and include the 
learning from many months of Covid - 19.

 Undertake a review of our current fleet that includes vehicles and specialist assets e.g. boats to ensure we have the right 
resources to meet the current and future needs of the Service;

 Undertake a review of equipment and PPE provided to our specialist rescue teams, for example water rescue and working at
height, to ensure they can respond safely, effectively and efficiently.

 Secure sustainable capital and revenue budgets aligned to our strategic objectives;
 Adopt the whole life cycle approach to asset management, engaging with end users and actively pursuing collaboration 
opportunities with partners;
 Implement effective and sustainable asset management plans and systems providing assurance that our fleet, equipment, 
facilities and training resources support current and future needs;
 Ensure we have compliant and collaborative procurement processes so we purchase the right products and services at the
best price.

P
age 58



23

     Digital, Data and Technology                          

Increase the use of data and business intelligence tools to 
ensure that we understand our risks and maximise the use of 
technology to respond appropriately to those risks.

In a digital world it is import that the Service keeps up to date with the relevant advances in data analytics and technology. The 
service has a long history of investing in its technology, this includes a state of the art Control Room, Mobile Data Terminals on 
fire engines, IPads for safe and well visits and the ability to work with agility using laptops and mobile phones.

The Service is currently Cyber Essentials Plus accredited and has been since June 2017. With the implementation of a more 
agile workforce, driven by the Covid - 19 pandemic, and the arrival of the Emergency Services Network (ESN) for improved 
joint operation working, it is important that the Service continues to invest in technology.

 Introduce a new Management Information System that links the areas of Protection, Firefighter Safety and Prevention 
activity and keeps all our risk information together.

 Develop and embed systems to effectively evaluate our activity to keep our communities safe.
 With the support from the National Fire Chiefs Council, we aim to extend the range of data we use, specifically from the 

Health Service and continue to improve and develop our approach to analysing and understanding community risk thereby 
delivering more effective outcomes for vulnerable people across our communities.

 Implement new emergency mobilising technology into our operational service as well as review current systems to deliver 
improved response times.

 Engage with the Home Office led Emergency Services Mobile Communication Programme (ESMCP) in order to implement 
the Emergency Services Network (ESN) within Gloucestershire.

 Evaluate our IT systems to ensure we are making best use of technology as a key enabler for our service.
 Keep our systems updated to the relevant security requirements to keep our data and systems secure.
 Remain accredited to the relevant codes of connection and security e.g. cyber essentials plus.
 Collect and analyse new data to deepen our understanding of where risk lies in Gloucestershire.
 Design and embed a new risk matrix that prioritises our work so that we are able to deliver tailor-made safe and well visits 

to support individual and household needs.

P
age 59



24

                      Timeline                                                          
Year 1 2022-23

Cultural Improvement Action Plan

Implement National Operational Guidance

Emergency Service Network Programme 

Severn Park Training Centre Review

Front Line Appliance Review

Specialist PPE 

Incident Command Unit Review 

Aerial Appliance Review

Light Fleet Review 

Predictive Analysis and Modelling

Power BI Data Improvements

Fire Ground Radio Upgrade 

Asset Management Systems

Year 2 2023-24

Cultural Improvement Action Plan

Implement National Operational Guidance

Emergency Service Network Programme 

Severn Park Training Centre Review

Front Line Appliance Review

Specialist PPE 

Incident Command Unit Review 

Aerial Appliance Review

Light Fleet Review 

Predictive Analysis and Modelling

Power BI Data Improvements

Collaboration Framework

Year 3 2024-25

Cultural Improvement Action Plan

Implement National Operational Guidance

Emergency Service Network Programme 

Severn Park Training Centre Review

Front Line Appliance Review

Specialist PPE 

Incident Command Unit Review 

Aerial Appliance Review

Year 4 2025-26

Cultural Improvement Action Plan

Implement National Operational Guidance

Emergency Service Network Programme 

Severn Park Training Centre Review

Front Line Appliance Review

“Working together we will provide the highest standard of community safety and emergency response services to the communities of 
Gloucestershire”

P
age 60



25

               Performance Metrics                                                          
HOW WE MONITOR AND EVALUATE OUR OBJECTIVES

All business activities and objectives will be monitored and evaluated using a number of different methods, which include;

 The GFRS Annual Service Plan. 
 The Portfolio Management Office, which is overseen by the Portfolio Management Board. 
 All decision are governed by the GCC decision-making process following GFRS Senior Leadership Team approval. 
 Scrutiny of all plans, projects, programmes and performance is provided by the Fire and Rescue Scrutiny Committee (FRSC). 
 External Scrutiny is provided by HMICFRS, GCC Audit and Peer Challenge from other Fire and Rescue Services.  

Annual Key Performance Indicators are reviewed, developed and published each year as part of the annual planning cycle. Below are the metrics that we will use 
to monitor and evaluate our business activities and support the objectives within this Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026. 

Community Risk Management Plan Metrics
Average response time to dwelling fires

Average response time to Commercial fires
Average response time to Primary fires

Number of deliberate fires (14% reduction based on 3 year rate each quarter)
Number of accidental dwelling fires - (14% reduction based on 3 year rate each quarter)

% of Safe and Well visits undertaken to those in high risk groups
Rate of Safe and Well visits undertaken per 1,000 population

% of 7.2D premises within required frequency
% of higher risk premises inspected within required time frame

% of operational Incident Commanders (in role) within 2 yearly requalification target
% of operational staff (In role -FF to WM) within 2 yearly requalification target for Breathing 

Apparatus
% of staff in GFRS from Black and Minority Ethnic groups - (as a % of the total workforce)

% of staff in GFRS that are female - (as a % of the total workforce)
Days lost to Sickness per FTE
Number of RIDDOR injuries

% forecast spend against budget

P
age 61



                               Further Information                               

26

HOW TO CONTACT US

If you require further copies of this document or an alternative 
format, please contact us via:

Email fire@glosfire.gov.uk

 

Write to us at:-

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service
Fire Service HQ
Waterwells Drive
Quedgeley
Gloucester GL2 2AX

Or by telephone: 01452 888777

P
age 62

mailto:fire@glosfire.gov.uk


27

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Finance Performance and Risk Meeting 

Performance Report Quarter 3 2021/22 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS)

50% (2)

50% (2)

50% (2)

50% (2)

50% (2)

25% (1)

25% (1)

50% (2)

25% (1)

50% (2)

25% (1)

50% (2)

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Q3 2020/21

Q4 2020/21

Q1 2021/22

Q2 2021/22

Q3 2021/22

On or Ahead of Target Within Tolerance (0 - 5% Worse than Target)

Community Safety    
Percentage of  Corporate Performance  Indicators 

On/Ahead,Within Tolerance  or Behind Target  

1. Half of indicators were better than target in Quarter 3. Performance has been impacted by the 
number of Safe and Well visits undertaken and the number of Accidental Dwelling Fires.

2. The number of accidental dwelling fires has followed a reducing trend over time, with an 
average of 70 incidents per quarter in 2021/22 to date compared with 76 incidents on average 
3 years ago and 81 incidents 6 years ago. There were 74 accidental dwelling fires in Quarter 
3. Incidents both in-quarter and financial year to date are lower than our comparator group but 
worse than target. The Prevention Manager is undertaking an analysis of dwelling fires which 
will detail the spatial and temporal spread of fires, as well as demographic data for the 
residents affected. The report and action plan, as required, will be complete by the end of 
Quarter 4.

3. Timeliness of responding to accidental dwelling fires (where it was clear during the initial 
emergency call that the fire related to a dwelling) was better than target at 7 minutes 03 
seconds in Quarter 3; this is the best response time seen this financial year. A pilot is being 
carried out through the introduction of a pre-alert, designed to alert firefighters of an 
emergency before the alarm sounds in their station, to improve the response time from call to 
appliance being mobilised having positive impacts on overall response times. Performance 
was better than the average rolling year (8 minutes 42 seconds), our comparator group 
average (8 minutes 37 seconds) and national levels (7 minutes 36 seconds, note: includes 
Predominantly Urban areas where response times are shorter). 

4. The rate of Safe and Well visits saw marginal improvement for the second quarter up from 
0.78 per 1,000 population to 0.89 (570 visits). The definition for Safe and Well visits as defined 
by HMICFRS does not include Home Fire Safety Checks (HFSC’s), The indicator has now 
been updated to reflect this. The target will be reviewed once a new baseline has been 
established as the number of Safe and Well visits are anticipated to improve from the current 
level due to crews returning to normal service following the lifting of COVID-19 restrictions and 
the support of regular performance management meetings to ensure that a balance is 
maintained across the diverse workload of the Wholetime watches. Therefore, Performance 
remains below target (2.35) and the comparator group average (1.50). 

Page 65

Agenda Item 6



There were 149 Safe and Well visits which hadn’t been undertaken more than 28 days after 
referral at the end of December, up from 115 at the end of Quarter 2. 52 of these had been 
awaiting a visit for more than 3 months. While there has been significant improvement since 
the end of last quarter (199), the number of visits waiting more than 3 months grew throughout 
the quarter, up from 34 at the end of October. 

Note: The rate of Safe and Well visits and HFSC’s (per 1,000 population) has remained 
steady during 2021/22 with 1.3 visits per 1,000 population (822 visits) taking place in Quarter 
3. 

5. The service continues its positive work to reach the most vulnerable people in our community, 
with 78% of Safe and Well visits undertaken being to people in vulnerable groups. However, 
while performance remains better than target (75%) and our comparator group average (74%), 
it has followed a declining trend over the last 12 months, from 86.4% in December 2020. In-
month, performance moved to a worse than target position in December. The Service targets 
and prioritises high fire risk groups but does also carry out Safe and Well visits to concerned 
low to medium risk residents. There were fewer visits to high-risk groups completed in 
December, 140 compared to 221 in November and 281 in October, which has impacted 
performance in Quarter 3 overall. The reduction of visits is in part due to the absence of a full-
time Community Safety Advisor. There were also challenges in access to people living within 
residential/care homes due to precautions being taken around visiting while Omicron cases 
remained high. 

6. The response to and recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic is being well managed and 
resources are in place. A number of areas of work have been completed or are underway to 
strengthen our response and management of major incidents, both within the Council and 
across community partners. The Civil protection team have been working with the County 
Council's emergency response teams on reviewing their current status and requirements. The 
Emergency Control Centre has been assessed and an upgrade is due to be completed by the 
end of Quarter 4. A Silver group is to be established and will include a response role. Director 
on-call guidance has been updated and training sessions delivered. The Local Risk Register 
has also been collectively assessed and the Community Risk Register is due to be finalised by 
end of Quarter 4. Therefore, risk of failure of the Council or a key partner to respond to a major 
incident that results in community disruption and failure to return to normal within required 
timescales remains rated as Moderate 9.

7. Work continues to take place to ensure that all service areas have an up-to-date business 
continuity plan in place (note: BCPs address an agreed range of significant risk scenarios, not 
all risks). In line with best practice, business impact analyses (BIAs) need to be conducted 
before Business Continuity Plans (BCPs) are developed / updated. BIA sessions therefore 
continue to be rolled out to plan owners. It continues to be the case that BIAs and the 
development of BCPs is taking longer than expected, with some BCPs significantly overdue. 
Corporate Leadership Team was briefed in December regarding the anticipated delay in 
delivery of 3-6 months at the current pace of work. BCP owners are being encouraged to 
prioritise this work but given the other demands across the Council currently, it was agreed 
that this delay is not unreasonable. The project overrun will not foreseeably worsen risk 
impact. As the project progresses, plans will be rehearsed and tested, resulting in greater 
confidence in the robustness of each service's business continuity management arrangements 
resulting in a consequent overall reduction in risk impact. The risk of failure of the Council or a 
key partner to effectively deliver their statutory services, resulting in community disruption and 
failure of corporate objectives due to insufficient business continuity management 
arrangements continues to be rated as Moderate 12 in the meantime.

Page 66



8. The risk relating to insufficient workforce capacity and/or instability adversely impacting on 
pace and sustainability of improvement and contributing to increased risk to firefighter safety 
or capability to deliver emergency services to the community remains rated as Moderate 12. 
In terms of workforce capacity and skills, there has been a recruitment and selection process 
carried out to backfill substantive posts and In-year and MTFS bids are progressing to cover 
additional resources, as well as funding for development and training. Even with these 
measures in place it is still recognised that there are many work pressures on staff and work is 
underway to alleviate some of these. In the meantime, the Community Safety Service had the 
second highest levels of sickness across the organisation in Quarter 3, with 2.80 days lost per 
FTE and the highest turnover, up for the third quarter from 8.6% to 13%.

The Role of Elected Members training has been delivered and uploaded onto Members 
Matters library of training to support appropriate oversight of workforce and service delivery 
challenges. With regard to the effective delivery of emergency services to the community, Civil 
Protection Team (CPT) officer's attend all of the Local Resilience Forum (LRF) monthly 
meetings as well as all response meetings, as required, and are in regular liaison with the LRF 
secretariat. CPT work with five of the district councils via a Service Level Agreement to 
support them with their emergency management framework. The response to COVID is well 
managed and resource is in place. The CPT is adequately staffed 365 days a year. Executive 
directorate response is in place and LRF training is ongoing and attended by all directorates.

9. Since leaving the EU there has been a slowly improving picture. Although there is recognition 
that over the last 12 months that the EU exit has contributed to gaps in recruitment in some 
business areas, such as fuel delivery drivers and public reaction to perceived shortages within 
supermarkets, these challenges have eased in Quarter 3. The risk of uncertainties arising from 
the UK leaving the EU with the possible impact on funding and policy change affecting 
Gloucestershire County Council and Local Government in general has therefore reduced 
from Moderate (9) to Low (6).

10. We will be developing a measure relating to inspections of commercial premises as part of the 
work being undertaken to strengthen the data infrastructure and performance management 
framework. 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Quarter 3 2021/22

Purpose of the report
To provide a strategic overview of the Council's performance for Quarter 3 2021/22.

The following scorecards are enclosed:

Prepared by the Performance and Improvement Team

Page number
Key to Symbols 2
Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue 3
Strategic Risk Register Summary 4

GFRS Scrutiny Committee

1

P
age 69



Risk Impact/Consequence

Likelihood 1
Insignificant

2
Minor

3
Moderate

4
Major

5
Critical

Almost
certain
(5)

5 10 15 20 25

Likely
(4) 4 8 12 16 20

Probable
(3) 3 6 9 12 15

Possible
(2) 2 4 6 8 10

Rare
(1) 1 2 3 4 5

Reporting Basis

Year to Date Performance accumulated over the year

Rolling Year Average performance over a 12 month
period

Annual Performance measured once a year

Latest
Quarter

Performance this quarter

Snapshot Performance at a particular point in time

Forecast Predicted position at the end of the year

Level of
Risk

Score

Low 1  6
Moderate 7 – 12
High 13 – 25

Risk Rating
(calculated by multiplying the Impact with the Likelihood of each risk)

Risk Symbols
Risk Value Increasing
Risk Value Decreasing
No Change

Measure Symbols
Performance Better than Target
Performance Worse than Target
Performance significantly worse than Target
No information
Missing Target
No Value

Bigger is Better A bigger value for this measure is good
Smaller is Better A smaller value for this measure is good
Plan is best Where it is better for performance to be on target rather than above or below

Key to Symbols

2

P
age 70



Public Protection

Cllr David Gray

Fire & Rescue

% of Safe and Well visits undertaken to those in high risk
groups

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 86.4% 85.3% 83.4% 83.0% 78.4% 75.0%

The picture for completing Safe and Well visits for
vulnerable groups is still quite positive. The inmonth
figure for December distorts the Q3 data as fewer
visits were completed in December overall and, of
those visits, a higher than usual rate were for low to
medium risk residents. Vulnerable service user visits
completed was 140 in December compared to 221 in
November and 281 in October. The Service targets
and prioritises high fire risk groups but we continue to
carry out Safe and Well visits to concerned low to
medium risk residents. The absence of the fulltime
green book Community Safety Advisor (CSAs) in
December has further reduced the completion of
visits to vulnerable groups. It is the two fulltime
green book CSAs who carry out a high percentage of
the complex and very high risk Safe and Well visits
but they were only available to complete 59 visits in
December, around half their usual rate.

68.0%

Number of Safe and Well visits undertaken per 1,000
population

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 0.67 0.64 0.78 0.83 0.89 2.35

The completion of Safe and Well visits has improved
generally but it requires continual monitoring. There
are regular performance management meetings to
ensure that a balance is maintained for the diverse
workload of the Wholetime Watches and the
performance data are provided to the Station
managers ahead of this meeting. However, the overall
improvement has started to slow, with Wholetime
Watches completing fewer Safe and Well each month
in November and December than they had in the
previous 6 months. The report for dwelling fires will
be a starting point to reenergise this improvement.

0.84

Average Response times to dwelling fires Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 10.27 9.10 8.39 9.29 7.03 9.00 8.37

Number of Accidental Dwelling Fires Smaller is Better Latest Quarter 62 68 75 63 74 60

An investigation into the increase of Dwelling fire will
be carried out and production of a report which shows
the spatial and temporal spread of those fires and
any demographic data for the residents affected.
The prevention team will increase their community
safety engagement in those areas and run an
evidencebased home fire safety
campaign. Improvements that had been made in
reducing the backlog of Safe and Wells has stalled
and some visits are waiting longer than 90 days. The
Prevention manager will engage with the wholetime
watches to proactively deliver these visits and close
the outstanding Safe and Well referrals so that there
is assurance that steps have been taken to reduce
the fire risk for our most vulnerable residents. The
prevention manager has committed to provide a
report and narrative with action plan by the end of
Q4.

103

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Dec20 Mar21 Jun21 Sep21
Actual
Dec21

Target
Dec21

Comments
Comparator
Group

3

P
age 71

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')


Strategic Risk

Strategic Risk Register

SR10.4

Due to insufficient business continuity management
arrangements failure of the Council or a key partner to
effectively deliver their statutory services, resulting in
community disruption and failure of corporate objectives.

Preece,
Mark

High 16 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate
12

Civil Protection Team have requested Business impact analyses (BIAs) be
conducted before BCPs are developed / updated. Those responsible for
completing the BIAs are taking an unexpected length of time to return a finalised
BIA (the average elapsed time from a facilitated BIA session to delivery by the
plan owner of a signed off BIA is six weeks), with extra / unplanned time being
spent by the lead officer for BCM chasing up plan owners for their BIAs in that
intervening period. Work continues with each Directorate to support and facilitate
the completion of BIAs but there is concern this is taking too long.

This Risk has been elevated for CLT's attention and it has been agreed to extend
the time scales for completion of department's BIA's and subsequent BCP's.
Department Heads are being encouraged to make this a key priority, but CLT
recognise there are a number of competing demands whilst we are competing
with COVID.
UPDATE FROM THE LEAD OFFICER FOR BCM:

The latest management information (MI) dated 14/01/2022 indicates that some
88% of services across GCC, incl. GFRS, have a business continuity plan (BCP)
in place  marginally down over the quarter and explained by some plans
produced six months ago requiring a refresh.  However, it remains the case that
the majority of plans  73% overall  require review (i.e. they have not been re
evaluated / updated in the last six months, are not in the latest corporate format
and so do not at present fully comply with the agreed Business Continuity
Policy).  10% of services across the council are not able to evidence a BCP of
any form (and are therefore considered as not having a BCP in place).  The
preceding figures support the risk rating for this quarter.

In line with best practice, business impact analyses (BIAs) need to be conducted
before BCPs are developed / updated and BIA sessions continue to be rolled out
to plan owners.  However, it continues to be the case that those responsible for
completing the BIAs are taking an unexpected length of time to return a finalised
BIA (over six weeks elapsed time against the expected two week timescale).
The development of BCPs in the required format is also taking longer than
expected with some plan owners taking a further five weeks on average (rather
than the expected four week timescale) to complete the work.  Three BCPs are
overdue by more than three months, with one of these overdue by six months.
A progress report was made to CLT on 09/12/2021 outlining that the delivery of
the full BCM project is likely to take an extra threesix months if work continues
at the current pace.  CLT accepted that this delay is not unreasonable given that
there are other demands and impacts cross the council currently which will affect
completion.  The project overrun will not foreseeably worsen risk impact.

Notwithstanding the above, as the project progresses, more BIAs and BCPs will
be updated across the organisation and processes will be implemented to ensure
that plans are rehearsed and tested, resulting in greater confidence in the
robustness of each service's BCM arrangements and a consequent overall
reduction in risk impact.  However, business continuity management is not a
"preventative" discipline and does not aim to reduce the likelihood of disruption.
It should also be noted that CLT has agreed, per the council's Business Continuity
Policy, that it is neither desirable nor practicable to entirely eliminate low
frequency but high impact disruption risks at source (the appropriate response to
such risks being for GCC to plan to react effectively should the risks be realised 
preparing to minimise the impact of the incident and to promptly recover the
affected activities, i.e. business continuity planning).

SR10.6

Insufficient workforce capacity and/or instability adversely
impacting on pace and sustainability of improvement and
contributing to increased risk to firefighter safety or capability
to deliver emergency services to the community

Preece,
Mark

High 20 Moderate 12 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Moderate 12 Moderate
12

There has been a recruitment and selection process carried out to backfill
substantive posts. In year and MTFS bids are progressing to cover additional
resources as well as funding for development and training. Even with these
measures in place it is still recognised that there are many work pressures on
staff and work is underway to alleviate some of these pressures.  This Risk has
been identified by the recent HMICFRS Inspection Report and work is underway
to identify the additional resources required to address the risk of having
insufficient capacity and capability within the workforce.

SR13.1

Uncertainties arising from the UK leaving the EU with the
possible impact on funding and policy change affecting
Gloucestershire County Council and Local Government in
general

Preece,
Mark

High 15 Moderate 10 Low 6 Low 6 Moderate 9 Low 6

Since leaving the EU there has been a slowly improving picture. Although there
is recognition that over the last 12 months the EU exit has contributed to gaps in
recruitment in some business areas; recent example being drivers for fuel
delivery and public reaction to perceived shortages within supermarkets.

Strategic Risk 10: Emergency Response & Business Continuity Threats

Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Dec20 Mar21 Jun21 Sep21
Actual
Dec21

DoT Dec
21

Comments

Strategic Risk 13: Uncertainties arising from the UK leaving the EU

Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Dec20 Mar21 Jun21 Sep21
Actual
Dec21

DoT Dec
21

Comments

4

SR10.1

Failure of the Council or a key partner to effectively respond
to a major incident such as flooding that results in community
disruption and failure to return to normal, within required
timescales.

Preece,
Mark

High 20 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 9 Moderate
9

CPT have been working with the County Council's emergency response teams on
reviewing their current status and requirements (ie: team membership, training,
procedures etc…) 2 team are fully staffed, 1 team has had a full revision and due
to be fully staffed by the end of Q4. 1 team has completed training / exercises
whilst the remaining 2 teams are due to undertake an exercise by the end of Q4.

Emergency Control Centre has been assessed and upgrade in progress due to be
completed by end of Q4.

Silver group to be established with a response role, CPT working with group to
support requirements. 'Silver' Toolkit being drafted.

Director oncall guidance updated and training sessions delivered, a number of
Directors attended the College of Policing MultiAgency Gold Incident Command
(MAGIC) Lite training session and invited to familiarisation session for the
Strategic Coordination Centre (SCC)

LRF Local Risk Register collectively assessed and Community Risk Register due
to be finalised by end of Q4.

Role of Elected Members training delivered to elected members and uploaded
onto Members Matters library of training.

CPT officer's attend 100% of the LRF monthly meetings as well as all response
meetings as required and are in regular liaison with the LRF secretariat.

CPT work with five of the district councils via a Service Level Agreement to
support them with their emergency management framework.

Covid is well managed and resource is in place. Civil protection team is
adequately staffed 365 days a year. Executive directorate response is in place
and LRF training is ongoing and attended by all directorates.

Strategic Risk 10: Emergency Response & Business Continuity Threats

Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Dec20 Mar21 Jun21 Sep21
Actual
Dec21

DoT Dec
21

Comments

P
age 72



Strategic Risk

Strategic Risk Register

SR10.4

Due to insufficient business continuity management
arrangements failure of the Council or a key partner to
effectively deliver their statutory services, resulting in
community disruption and failure of corporate objectives.

Preece,
Mark

High 16 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate
12

Civil Protection Team have requested Business impact analyses (BIAs) be
conducted before BCPs are developed / updated. Those responsible for
completing the BIAs are taking an unexpected length of time to return a finalised
BIA (the average elapsed time from a facilitated BIA session to delivery by the
plan owner of a signed off BIA is six weeks), with extra / unplanned time being
spent by the lead officer for BCM chasing up plan owners for their BIAs in that
intervening period. Work continues with each Directorate to support and facilitate
the completion of BIAs but there is concern this is taking too long.

This Risk has been elevated for CLT's attention and it has been agreed to extend
the time scales for completion of department's BIA's and subsequent BCP's.
Department Heads are being encouraged to make this a key priority, but CLT
recognise there are a number of competing demands whilst we are competing
with COVID.
UPDATE FROM THE LEAD OFFICER FOR BCM:

The latest management information (MI) dated 14/01/2022 indicates that some
88% of services across GCC, incl. GFRS, have a business continuity plan (BCP)
in place  marginally down over the quarter and explained by some plans
produced six months ago requiring a refresh.  However, it remains the case that
the majority of plans  73% overall  require review (i.e. they have not been re
evaluated / updated in the last six months, are not in the latest corporate format
and so do not at present fully comply with the agreed Business Continuity
Policy).  10% of services across the council are not able to evidence a BCP of
any form (and are therefore considered as not having a BCP in place).  The
preceding figures support the risk rating for this quarter.

In line with best practice, business impact analyses (BIAs) need to be conducted
before BCPs are developed / updated and BIA sessions continue to be rolled out
to plan owners.  However, it continues to be the case that those responsible for
completing the BIAs are taking an unexpected length of time to return a finalised
BIA (over six weeks elapsed time against the expected two week timescale).
The development of BCPs in the required format is also taking longer than
expected with some plan owners taking a further five weeks on average (rather
than the expected four week timescale) to complete the work.  Three BCPs are
overdue by more than three months, with one of these overdue by six months.
A progress report was made to CLT on 09/12/2021 outlining that the delivery of
the full BCM project is likely to take an extra threesix months if work continues
at the current pace.  CLT accepted that this delay is not unreasonable given that
there are other demands and impacts cross the council currently which will affect
completion.  The project overrun will not foreseeably worsen risk impact.

Notwithstanding the above, as the project progresses, more BIAs and BCPs will
be updated across the organisation and processes will be implemented to ensure
that plans are rehearsed and tested, resulting in greater confidence in the
robustness of each service's BCM arrangements and a consequent overall
reduction in risk impact.  However, business continuity management is not a
"preventative" discipline and does not aim to reduce the likelihood of disruption.
It should also be noted that CLT has agreed, per the council's Business Continuity
Policy, that it is neither desirable nor practicable to entirely eliminate low
frequency but high impact disruption risks at source (the appropriate response to
such risks being for GCC to plan to react effectively should the risks be realised 
preparing to minimise the impact of the incident and to promptly recover the
affected activities, i.e. business continuity planning).

SR10.6

Insufficient workforce capacity and/or instability adversely
impacting on pace and sustainability of improvement and
contributing to increased risk to firefighter safety or capability
to deliver emergency services to the community

Preece,
Mark

High 20 Moderate 12 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Moderate 12 Moderate
12

There has been a recruitment and selection process carried out to backfill
substantive posts. In year and MTFS bids are progressing to cover additional
resources as well as funding for development and training. Even with these
measures in place it is still recognised that there are many work pressures on
staff and work is underway to alleviate some of these pressures.  This Risk has
been identified by the recent HMICFRS Inspection Report and work is underway
to identify the additional resources required to address the risk of having
insufficient capacity and capability within the workforce.

SR13.1

Uncertainties arising from the UK leaving the EU with the
possible impact on funding and policy change affecting
Gloucestershire County Council and Local Government in
general

Preece,
Mark

High 15 Moderate 10 Low 6 Low 6 Moderate 9 Low 6

Since leaving the EU there has been a slowly improving picture. Although there
is recognition that over the last 12 months the EU exit has contributed to gaps in
recruitment in some business areas; recent example being drivers for fuel
delivery and public reaction to perceived shortages within supermarkets.

Strategic Risk 10: Emergency Response & Business Continuity Threats

Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Dec20 Mar21 Jun21 Sep21
Actual
Dec21

DoT Dec
21

Comments

Strategic Risk 13: Uncertainties arising from the UK leaving the EU

Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Dec20 Mar21 Jun21 Sep21
Actual
Dec21

DoT Dec
21

Comments

5

P
age 73

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col11')


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Fire and Rescue Scrutiny Committee - Work Plan 2022

4 March 2022 27 May 2022         15 July 2022

 Update on the CRMP
 GFRS collaboration with SWAST – report 

from GFRS highlighting the impact of this 
work on the service, including the positives 
and negatives of this collaboration 
(SWAST rep. invited but no response yet).

Standard items 

 GFRS Performance Data and Updates

 Proposals for the shared use of Newent 
and Dursley Community Fire Stations 
(tbc).

Standard items 

 GFRS Performance Data and Updates

 HMICFRS inspection feedback (tbc)

Standard items 

 GFRS Performance Data and Updates

2 September 2022 11 November 2022

 Update on progress with GFRS and 
Constabulary/PCC collaboration (written 
report to focus on the three themes 
identified: the Shared Estate, Road Safety, 
and Community Safety).

Standard items 

 GFRS Performance Data and Updates

 Feedback on the success/ value of the 
Young Person Support Officer role (after 6 
months in post). 

Standard items 

 GFRS Performance Data and Updates

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 7



Future Items 

1 Consultative White Paper on fire 
services reform 

Additional meeting 
to be arranged.

5

2 Fire Cover Review/ High Risk Buildings Additional meeting 
to be arranged – 
exempt session. 

Workshops, visits and member development sessions

3 Date to be 
confirmed.

1

4 2

P
age 76


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes
	FRSC Actions - 14 January 2022
	Est Income 22.23
	Fallback Arrangements with Avon FRS

	4 GFRS collaboration with SWAST
	GFRS SC Briefing Paper
	FRS Passport

	5 Update on the Community Risk Management Plan
	GFRS CRMP 2022-2026 FRSC - consultation amendments v3

	6 GFRS Performance Data and Updates
	GFRSSC Performance and Risk Scorecard Q3 2021-22

	7 Work Plan 2022



